**RECEIVED**

**Mar 06 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Greenwood County  
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 5951 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 23, 2022)

Lower Court Case No. 2018-GS-24-00829; 00830

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

XZARIERA OKEVIS GRAY

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000253

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the state presented a witness with personal knowledge in order to authenticate a video where the witness did not observe the actual event captured on video, and therefore, the witness could not testify that the video was a fair and accurate depiction of the event? Although not addressed by the Court of Appeals, did the state also fail to present substantial circumstantial evidence to satisfy Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE, and fail to present evidence describing the process or system used to produce the video to satisfy Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE?

II. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold that it was not an abuse of discretion to deny Petitioner's motion for a new trial without a hearing where the jury deliberated for over ten consecutive hours during which they received only one meal and subsequently discovered evidence showed that at least one member of the jury believed not only that a verdict must be rendered, but that a verdict had to be rendered that day?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 4, 2018, a Greenwood County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 540-541; R. 543-542. The state, represented by Joshua Thomas and Carson Penney, called the case to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy and a jury on May 6-9, 2019. R. 1. Janna Nelson and Shane Goranson represented Petitioner. R. 1.<sup>1</sup> The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 515, l. 19 – R. 516, l. 2. Due to the late hour, the judge deferred sentencing until May 14, 2019. R. 517, l. 7-11; R. 518, ll. 1 – R. 519, l. 5. On that date, the judge sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment for murder and to five consecutive years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 524, ll. 14-25; R. 542; R. 545. On May 23, 2019, Petitioner filed a motion for new trial based upon improper external juror influences and requested a hearing on the motion. R. 534. On June 21, 2019, the judge denied the motion, refusing to hold a hearing. R. 538.

On July 2, 2019, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals remanded Petitioner's case to the circuit court to make specific findings regarding the Protection of Persons and Property Act.<sup>2</sup> State v. Gray, Op. No. 5951 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 23, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 34); App. 1-12. The Court also affirmed (1) the trial court's admission of a surveillance video and (2) the denial of Petitioner's motion for a new trial without a hearing. Id. Pursuant to Rule 221(a), SCACR Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 13-21. The state filed a return on December 19, 2022. App. 23-31. Subsequently, on January 23, 2023, the Court denied the petition for rehearing. App. 32-33. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Prior to trial, Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to the Protection for Persons and Property Act. R. 530. After the jury was selected, the judge presided over a hearing on Petitioner's motion to dismiss. R. 4, ll. 18-21. The judge denied the request. R. 77, l. 23 – R. 80, l. 8.

<sup>2</sup> See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to -450 (2015).

## ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erroneously held the state presented a witness with personal knowledge in order to authenticate a video where the witness did not observe the actual event captured on video, and therefore, the witness could not testify that the video was a fair and accurate depiction of the event. Although not addressed by the Court of Appeals, the state also failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence to satisfy Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE, and failed to present evidence describing the process or system used to produce the video to satisfy Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE.

### **Relevant facts**

Defense counsel moved in limine to prohibit the introduction of the video from Jeovani Vacquec's home. R. 81, l. 22 – R. 83, l. 3.<sup>3</sup> Vacquec lived near where the shooting occurred and had multiple cameras installed around the exterior of his home. R. 32, ll. 3-20. The cameras all fed back to one central monitor. R. 32, ll. 21-23. Vacquec claimed the cameras were working on August 26, 2017, and he was certain of this because he checked them "every two days." R. 32, ll. 8-15. Vacquec allowed the police to look at his recordings. R. 34, ll. 16-20. Despite his claimed conscientious checking of the cameras to ensure they were working, Vacquec never set the date and time on them. R. 36, l. 23 – R. 37, l. 2. In short, he never set up the recording device properly.

---

<sup>3</sup> During the hearing regarding immunity, the state sought to admit into evidence a video recording of the alleged encounter. Defense counsel objected to the admission of the video because "the time stamp on the video [did] not match the alleged time of the incident." R. 35, ll. 1-3. Further, defense counsel argued that Jeovani Vacquec was not "actually watching this occur on the monitors as it occurred" and he had no way of knowing what time it occurred. R. 37, ll. 10-14. Noting Vacquec testified he did not set the time when he set up the cameras, the trial judge determined the "question of the time stamp would go to the weight as opposed to the admissibility." R. 37, ll. 17-18. Thus, the trial judge found Vacquec "authenticated the videos that were taken at his residence." R. 37, ll. 18-20. He allowed the video to be admitted for the hearing. R. 37, ll. 21-23.

Defense counsel argued Vacquec had not properly authenticated the video because (1) “the time stamp does not match the actual time of the incident [and] Mr. Vacquec was not any kind of personal witness to what was going on” and (2) he was not “sitting at his monitor watching as this occurred” so that he could “correlate it with a gunshot he heard.” R. 82, ll. 12-15. Additionally, due to the low quality of the video, defense counsel argued the video was inadmissible pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE because the jury would be invited to speculate as to what occurred. R. 82, l. 22 – R. 83, l. 3.

Admitting that Vacquec had no personal knowledge that the video was an accurate depiction of what occurred, the state argued to introduce the video under “the silent witness theory.” R. 83, ll. 10-16. Pursuant to this theory, “if you have a surveillance video or something like that,” the evidence is admissible. R. 83, ll. 10-12. The state argued for admissibility pursuant to Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE, regarding distinctive characteristics of the evidence or Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE, regarding the process or system used to produce the video. R. 83, ll. 14-16. However, the state conceded there was “no real case law in South Carolina” on the subject. R. 83, ll. 13-14. Turning to counsel’s argument regarding Rule 403, SCRE, the state agreed the quality of the video was low making it difficult to tell what was transpiring, but the state argued that “some of the action” was visible. R. 83, l. 24 – R. 84, l. 2.

The judge overruled defense counsel’s objections. R. 85, ll. 15-16. The judge opined, “A picture’s worth a thousand words, so to speak.” R. 85, ll. 16-17. The judge acknowledged that Vacquec was able to testify that the video equipment was his, he installed it, and he ran it. R. 85, ll. 17-19. Regarding the time stamp, the judge found Vacquec “cleared that up in the sense that he didn’t mess with the time stamp when he installed the equipment.” R. 85, ll. 20-23. Regarding

the objection pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, the judge found the video depicted “relevant or potentially relevant information in this particular case.” R. 86, ll. 10-14.

Vacquec then told the jurors that he had eight cameras around his property, which he checked “pretty regularly to make sure they were working.” R. 95, ll. 4-8; R. 95, ll. 23-25; R. 96, ll. 10-11 (stating he checked “it” every week, which was different than his in camera testimony). The cameras constantly recorded, but every “like two or three months,” the recordings “erase[d]” and started over. R. 96, ll. 12-16. When Vacquec bought the cameras, he “just hook[ed] it up,” without adjusting the date and time. R. 97, ll. 1-5.

When the police arrived, Vacquec did not pay attention to what the officer wanted. R. 97, ll. 22-25. The officer downloaded the video to a USB drive. R. 98, ll. 6-13. Vacquec identified State’s Exhibit #2 as surveillance footage from a camera at his home. R. 98, ll. 14-25.<sup>4</sup> Vacquec admitted he was not present at the scene shown on the footage, and therefore, he had no idea what was going on. R. 100, l. 19 – R. 101, l. 5. Additionally, Vacquec was not watching the monitor at the time of the shooting. R. 101, ll. 13-15.

Recognizing its weak case against Petitioner based upon its witnesses, the state relied heavily upon the video in its closing argument. The state claimed the video showed “three people coming off the steps of that house, of them over here, two of them over where, a shot, and then somebody running away.” R. 418, ll. 13-16. While that was all the video showed, the solicitor claimed it was “enough.” R. 418, ll. 16-18. The video, while “not the best video in the world” was “just clear enough to show you what you need to know.” R. 437, ll. 1-2. The state claimed the video showed “a scuffle, 30 to 45 seconds in that front yard.” R. 435, ll. 12-16. He told the

---

<sup>4</sup> When the state offered the video into evidence during the trial, defense counsel renewed her objection, which the trial judge overruled. R. 99, ll. 12-15.

jurors there was “[a] fight between two people grasping ahold of each other, trying their hardest to get - - to fight for their lives.” R. 435, ll. 18-20; R. 436, ll. 5-9. In the video, the solicitor pointed to “one person here” and “two people walk by here,” then he noted “[o]ne person, two people, three people, five to six feet apart, gunshot, [Meatball] falls down.” R. 437, ll. 4-9. The solicitor played the video numerous times during his closing argument. R. 436, ll. 16-18; R. 437, l. 3; R. 437, ll. 10-12; R. 438, ll. 17-18.

According to the solicitor, the video discredited Petitioner because it allegedly showed someone standing next to Petitioner. R. 439, ll. 10-11. He claimed the video showed Petitioner firing the gun, but not “falling backwards,” not “running away,” and “not locked up with anybody rolling, tussling, pushing, grabbing.” R. 439, ll. 15-17. To counter the defense theory that the state’s witnesses were merely parroting a rumor in the community, the solicitor told the jurors that “what’s not a rumor is this surveillance video.” R. 474, ll. 8-9. He continued, “They say a picture is worth a thousand words. A video’s got to be worth something more than that. You’re going to get to watch the video, take it back there with you.” R. 474, ll. 9-12.

While deliberating the jury requested to see the video again and again. The jury wanted portions played repeatedly and requested to see portions paused. R. 498, ll. 13-16; R. 500, ll. 22-24; R. 502, ll. 3-19; R. 503, ll. 4-7; R. 503, l. 15 – R. 504, l. 7; R. 509, ll. 1-9; R. 512, ll. 2-12; R. 525; R. 526; R. 528. Eventually, the judge provided the jurors with a laptop for them to use to watch the video at their leisure. R. 512, ll. 8-12. Over ten hours after the jury started its deliberations, it returned with its verdicts. R. 514, l. 23 – R. 515, l. 2.

## **Discussion**

### ***Authentication***

The proponent of evidence must satisfy “[t]he requirement of authentication or

identification as a condition precedent to admissibility.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. See also State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 488, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (2018) (stating “[i]t is black letter law that evidence must be authenticated or identified in order to be admissible”). This requirement “is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Id. While the burden is not high, the proponent must offer a satisfactory foundation to permit the jury to conclude the evidence is authentic. Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)).

As video evidence becomes ubiquitous in trial courts, it is imperative for the bench and bar to have guidance on how to authenticate video evidence. Other jurisdictions have adopted the “silent witness” theory of authentication pursuant to Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE, which the state argued at trial. Although not addressed by the Court of Appeals, this case presents an opportunity for this Court to determine whether South Carolina permits authentication pursuant to this method. Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant certiorari to answer the important question presented. See Rule 242(b), SCACR.

The Florida District Court of Appeal adopted the silent witness theory and created a five-part test for authentication. Wagner v. State, 707 So.2d 827, 831 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998).<sup>5</sup> The Court held photographic evidence may be admitted pursuant to the silent witness theory if a trial

---

<sup>5</sup> The Indiana Court of Appeals explained that “[i]n order to authenticate videos or photographs using the silent-witness theory, there must be evidence describing the process or system that produced the videos or photographs and showing that the process or system produced an accurate result.” McFall v. State, 71 N.E.3d 383, 388 (Ind. Ct. App. 2017). “The requirements are ‘rather strict.’” Id. “[T]he proponent must show that the photograph or video was not altered in any significant respect, and the date the photograph or video was taken must be established when relevant.” Id.

judge determined it to be reliable after considering the following five factors: (1) evidence establishing the time and date of the photographic evidence; (2) any evidence of editing or tampering; (3) the operating condition and capability of the equipment producing the photographic evidence as it relates to the accuracy and reliability of the photographic product; (4) the procedure employed as it relates to the preparation, testing, operation, and security of the equipment used to produce the photographic product, including the security of the product itself; and (5) testimony identifying the relevant participants depicted in the photographic evidence. Id.

Similarly, the Supreme Court of Alabama instituted a seven-prong test when a litigant invokes the silent witness theory of authentication. Ex Parte Fuller, 620 So.2d 675, 678 (Ala. 1993). The party must (1) show that the device or process or mechanism that produced the item being offered as evidence was capable of recording what a witness would have seen or heard had a witness been present at the scene or event recorded; (2) show that the operator of the device or process or mechanism was competent; (3) establish the authenticity and correctness of the resulting recording, photograph, videotape, etc.; (4) show that no changes, additions, or deletions were made; (5) show the manner in which the recording, photograph, videotape, etc., was preserved, (6) identify the speakers or persons pictured, and (7) in criminal cases, show that any statement made in the recording, tape, etc., was voluntarily made without any kind of coercion or improper inducement. Id.

Petitioner urges this Court to adopt one of these tests to clarify for the bench and bar how to authenticate evidence pursuant to Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE. At a minimum, here, the state failed to present evidence to satisfy the language of the rule because the state presented no witness or other evidence to describe the video recording system or that the system produced an accurate result. Vacquec did not even know the name brand of the video system. He was unable to describe

how the system worked in even the most rudimentary of terms. Vacquec's testimony that he checked the camera's "pretty regularly" to ensure they worked was not sufficient to establish personal knowledge that the video showed what the state claimed. He was not even sure how long the video recorder saved the recordings, testifying it erased every few months. Most importantly, he was unable to say if or how the system produced an accurate result as required by the plain language of Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE. Vacquec's testimony could not satisfy the plain language of Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE, despite the state's urging for the trial court to admit the evidence through a silent witness theory. See State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 818 S.E.2d 735 (2018).

One of the most common ways for the proponent to authenticate evidence is through the testimony of a witness with knowledge that the "matter is what it is claimed to be." See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE. Oddly, despite the state's concession at trial that no witness could say the contents of the video were what the state purported them to be, the Court of Appeals held "[t]he state authenticated the surveillance video with Vacquec's personal knowledge" because he "testified he owned and operated the security system that recorded the video." State v. Gray, Op. No. 5951 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 23, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 34); App. 1-12. The Court also referred to Vacquec's testimony that "the camera that recorded the video faced Gray Street" and the "time stamp on the video was incorrect because he did not set the correct date or time when he set up the security system." Id. Holding Vacquec's failure to contemporaneously watch the monitor or be present at the scene of the shooting as irrelevant, the Court held Vacquec's "personal knowledge sufficiently authenticated the video." Id.

Yet, this could not be irrelevant as it would be the way for a witness to testify that a video recording is a fair and accurate depiction of what it is purported to be. Vacquec did not have personal knowledge sufficient to lay a foundation from which a reasonable juror could find the

evidence was what the state claimed where he was not present at the scene shown on the video and was not watching the monitor at the time of the shooting.

While not addressed by the Court of Appeals, the state also failed to authenticate the video through another common method – showing the evidence contains “distinctive characteristics and the like.” See Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE. “Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances” may serve to authenticate evidence. Id.; see also State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 129, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39-40 (2009).

The Court of Appeals recently held the state authenticated social media messages through circumstantial evidence despite neither the sender nor the recipient testifying where the state presented

[n]umerous facts linking the Facebook messages to [co-defendant] and, consequently, Green: the use of the screen name ‘Ruby Rina,’ which [a witness] testified was [co-defendant]’s; reference to ‘Julissa’ on the messages, which testimony showed was [co-defendant]’s sister’s name; Ruby Rina’s invitation to her home, which she stated was at 108 Queens Circle; [the deceased]’s reference to Ruby Rina as [co-defendant] ...; comments throughout the messages about Ruby Rina’s erstwhile boyfriend that were consistent with her relationship with Green; the timing of the messages; and the tragic fact that [deceased] disappeared shortly after Ruby Rina invited him to 108 Queens Circle, where his blood was later discovered.

State v. Green, 427 S.C. 223, 233, 830 S.E.2d 711, 715-716 (Ct. App. 2019), aff’d as modified, 342 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020). Here, the state failed to present circumstantial evidence to authenticate the surveillance video. While Vacquec testified to the location and its general view, he was unable to provide any additional circumstantial evidence to establish the video was from the morning in question or was accurately recorded. The state simply failed to provide the judge with circumstantial evidence sufficient to authenticate the video pursuant to Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE.

### ***Rule 403***

All relevant evidence is generally admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” *Id.* Even relevant evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. Rule 403, SCRE. A determination on the admissibility of relevant evidence requires consideration of the evidence’s probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice and potential to confuse or mislead the jury posed by the evidence, and the balancing of those two.

“‘Probative’ means ‘[t]ending to prove or disprove.’” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). “‘Probative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” *Id.* at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. The probative value of evidence is directly related to the how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. *Id.* Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

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