RECEIVED

Apr 20 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenwood County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5951 (S.C.Ct.App. filed Nov. 23, 2022)

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

XZAREIRA OKEVIS GRAY,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000253

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

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

victim ran down Gray Street, and the police arrived shortly thereafter. (R. 169, l. 17-24; 170, l. 16-18; 172, l. 19-25). Should the Court find the neighbor provided insufficient testimony to authenticate the video, this subsequent evidence should render any error harmless. See e.g. United States v. Luna, 649 F.3d 91, 103 (1st Cir. 2011)(“If evidence is admitted prematurely because it is not yet authenticated, a court of appeals need not remand for a new trial if later testimony cures the error.”).

Treatment in the Court of Appeals:

Recognizing “[t]he authentication standard is not high,” but does require proper foundation, the Court of Appeals resolved that the video was properly authenticated by the neighbor’s “personal knowledge.” (App. 9). The explanation on the time stamp issue was likewise addressed by “personal knowledge.” (App. 9).

Discussion:

Petitioner has failed show any “special and important reasons” to grant review of any one of his eight questions presented. Such circumstances are not present here, nor are there any like circumstances of broad application and pressing importance presented in this case. In essence, this case shows an ordinary application of law to the facts of the case. Certiorari review is not warranted, and the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

The Court of Appeals was correct that the standard is not particularly high. Simply, “the proponent must produce evidence sufficient to support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. On this, Petitioner agrees with the Court of Appeals. (Pet. 7-8). While Petitioner claims the “bench and bar” could benefit from “guidance” for such decisions, (Pet. 8), sufficient guidance is already set out in the rule. Rule 901 articulates several ways to authenticate various types of evidence. Of note here is the method of authentication by producing

a “witness with knowledge” who may testify “that an item is what it is claimed to be.” Rule 901 (b)(1), SCRE. The neighbor’s testimony follows that method. As discussed above, the neighbor testified that one of his surveillance cameras faced Gray Street and constantly records footage onto a central monitor. (R. 95, l. 13; 96, l. 3-13). The neighbor routinely checks his equipment to ensure everything is recording properly. (R. 95, l. 23-25; 96, l. 10-11). On the day of the murder, a police officer came to his house and asked to review that camera’s footage from earlier that morning. (R. 96, l. 20-23; 97, l. 15-21). According to the neighbor, the police officer rewound the footage “back a few hours to the early morning hours.” (R. 97, l. 19-21). The neighbor confirmed that the State’s exhibit was the same footage that he and the officer reviewed. (R. 98, l. 9-25; 148, l. 1-8). Based on this testimony alone, a juror could reasonably find that the video was what the State claimed it to be: surveillance footage of the crime scene on the morning of the murder.

Petitioner’s argument that the witness could not (or did not) describe the workings of the system, the brand name, how long the video is generally saved, (see Pet. 9-10), suggests requirements greatly exceeding that set out in the Rule. The Court of Appeals, consistent with the direction of the Rule, rejected petitioner’s argument that more was necessary. (See App. 9, “it is irrelevant that Vacquec was not contemporaneously watching his monitor or at the scene of the shooting; his personal knowledge sufficiently authenticated the video.”)⁶ “[A] party need not rule

⁶ To the extent petitioner takes exception to the Court of Appeals’ deeming the example “irrelevant,” (Pet. at 10), petitioner is limited by his own invitation: he invited the Court of Appeals to address such an example by the argument in his brief that the neighbor was “unable to provide any additional circumstantial evidence to establish the video was from the morning in question or was accurately recorded.” (App. Brief 34). He also undermines his own argument. Petitioner has in essence conceded and/or abandoned his prior argument that the working of the machine should be known, understood, and explained before authentication may be established. But, at the end of the day, the position he takes requires a court to abandon the established rule and expand out to harsh and hard requirements to show authentication which is contrary not just to the language of

out any possibility the evidence is not authentic. In the realm of authentication, the law, like science, is content with probabilities.” *State v. Green*, 427 S.C. 223, 230, 830 S.E.2d 711, 714 (Ct. App. 2019), *aff’d as modified*, 432 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020). Petitioner failed to show an inadequate basis for admissibility and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed.

Additionally, though not addressed, the rule allows another, relevant method: distinctive characteristics, such as appearance, contents, or substance can establish an exhibit’s authenticity. Rule 901 (b)(4) SCRE. The date on the video’s time stamp was from the day of the murder: August 26, 2017. (St. Ex. 2). Granted, the hour on the time stamp was incorrect because the neighbor did not input the correct time of day when he installed the system. (R. 97, l. 3-5). As such, the neighbor and police officer had to “count back” to ensure they retrieved footage from the time of the murder. (R. 97, l. 6-21). Nevertheless, the video depicts the flash of gunfire, an individual running away, and the arrival of police cars within minutes. This certainly connects the time to the scene and the murder. And the video, though taken at night, was still highly probative.

Even so, Rule 403 provides that even relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is *substantially outweighed* by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals properly found that standard cannot be met here. (App. 10). Petitioner asserted and relied on self-defense. (R. 454, l. 14-25; 473, l. 9). Specifically, petitioner claimed that he took the gun from the victim’s

the rule, but also case law and custom. *See State v. Brown*, 424 S.C. 479, 492, 818 S.E.2d 735, 742 (2018) (“the witness need not be an expert”). If such an expansion could ever be required, this would not be the case for it. It remains difficult to see a logical argument that the scene from the surveillance tape was somehow inaccurate when there is no command or subjectivity to a machine’s recording for basic surveillance (compare with *Brown* where the authentication was of a system that was utilized specifically to produce a result and applying a different method for authentication under the rule), the neighbor testified to the position, the shooting is capture by the visible muzzle flash, and any block, blurriness or other obscuring element would be visible for consideration in determining weight or value. Petitioner’s argument was properly rejected.

waistband, stumbled back, and fired when the victim rushed towards him. (R. 379, l. 1-7). Petitioner also claimed that his brother was not present at the scene. (R. 391, l. 2-7). The video may fairly be said to contradict both of these claims.

Approximately seven minutes and fourteen seconds into the video, a flash from a gun is visible in the bottom left hand quadrant of the video. (St. Ex 2). In front of the shooter, there is an individual who appears to be hit. (St. Ex. 2). In contrast to petitioner's testimony, that individual is stationary immediately before the gunfire. (St. Ex. 2). In other words, the victim is not rushing towards the shooter, as petitioner testified. Additionally, the video reveals the presence of a third-party standing next to the shooter when he fires. (St. Ex. 2). As noted above, Raymond Kennedy testified that petitioner's brother was standing in the front yard when he shot the victim.⁷ (R. 166, l. 16).

The Court of Appeals properly and reasonably concluded that the surveillance footage gave the jury an unbiased perspective to assess petitioner's claim that he reasonably feared for his life – "an alternative perspective of the shooting that was objective and neutral." (App. 10). The video is dark, but the Court of Appeals reasoned: "Despite the dark image, the video clearly shows more than two people in and round Grant's yard at the time of the shooting." (App. 10). As such, it "was highly probative." (App. 10). As the circuit court noted, a picture is worth a thousand words. (R. 85, l. 16-17). In sum, Gray failed to show a basis to find an abuse of discretion and his issue could not support relief. Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the lower court. Certiorari review should be denied.

⁷ During the immunity hearing, Raymond Kennedy testified that petitioner's brother was standing beside petitioner when he fired the weapon. (R. 51, l. 17-25; 91, l. 1-4). At trial, his testimony was that petitioner's brother was in the yard when petitioner fired. (R. 166, l. 16).

II. The Court of Appeals properly found no abuse of discretion in the trial judge's denying the motion for a new trial without a hearing where petitioner failed to offer any proper basis to question the jurors.

Treatment in the Court of Appeals:

The Court of Appeals resolved, in relevant part:

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Gray's motion for a new trial without a hearing. The trial court aptly recognized that Gray's requested inquiries are prohibited by Rule 606(b), SCRE. The juror's Facebook post did not indicate that any extraneous prejudicial information or outside influence had an impact on the jury's deliberations; it also did not indicate that Gray's verdict was reached as a result of racial or gender intimidation or that the jury began deliberating prematurely. Therefore, Gray's requested inquiries would have involved juror testimony about internal influences unrelated to fundamental fairness. Accordingly, we affirm as to this issue.

(App. 9).

Discussion:

Petitioner has again failed to show any "special and important reasons" to grant review of any one of his eight questions presented. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed based on a fair reading of the record and the dictates of Rule 606(b), SCRE. Certiorari review is not warranted, and the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

Rule 29, SCRCrimP, provides criminal defendants an avenue to file post-trial motions. A post-trial motion under Rule 29 "may in the discretion of the court, be determined on briefs filed by the parties without oral argument." Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP. In other words, the decision to hold an evidentiary hearing on a post-trial motion is within the trial court's discretion.

The circuit court had a reasonable basis to deny petitioner's request for a hearing based on the content of the Facebook post alone. As noted above, the juror posted, "general sessions murder trial ... just couldn't leave without a verdict." (R. 536). The plain text indicates a reflection upon

the juror's sacrifice of time to fulfill the civic obligation of jury service. Contrary to petitioner's argument, it does not mean the juror thought she was *physically barred* from leaving the courthouse. The circuit court was crystal clear in giving the jury a choice between continuing deliberations into the evening and returning the following week to continue. (R. 513, l. 23-25; 514, l. 1-11). Petitioner's strained interpretation to indicate some type of erroneous misunderstanding regarding the return of a verdict is contrary to the record and plain meaning of the post.

Moreover, petitioner did not even present a sworn affidavit to accompany the Facebook post. Thus, the post itself was of little value. At a minimum, the circuit court could insist upon a sworn affidavit before marching the jury back to the courthouse. *See State v. Ziegler*, 364 S.C. 94, 112-13, 610 S.E.2d 859, 869-70 (Ct. App. 2005)(holding the circuit court was not required to take juror testimony regarding alleged misconduct because the defendant only provided unsworn statements from jurors). Furthermore, the juror apparently declined to respond to petitioner's investigator. (R. 535). Had the juror been expressing frustration at being coerced to render a verdict, as petitioner argues, then surely she would have been more forthcoming to petitioner's counsel. But, specifically, petitioner sought testimony on the understanding of the court's instructions, which simply is not allowed:

a juror may not testify as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury's deliberations or to the effect of anything upon that or any other juror's mind or emotions as influencing the juror to assent to or dissent from the verdict or indictment or concerning the juror's mental processes in connection therewith, except that a juror may testify on the question whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury's attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror.

Rule 606(b), SCRE (emphasis added). As the rule makes clear, juror testimony is generally limited to determine whether there was an external influence upon the jury. *Id.* A case of external

influence arises “where jurors receive information during deliberations from some outside source.” *Zeigler*, 364 S.C. at 110, 610 S.E.2d at 867. Additionally, our courts have recognized a “strict” exception to permit juror testimony about internal influences when necessary to ensure “fundamental fairness.” *Id.* To date, South Carolina courts have recognized two situations serious enough to fall under this exception: (1) allegations of racial or gender intimidation towards a particular juror, and (2) allegations that the jury began deliberating prematurely. *See State v. Hunter*, 320 S.C. 85, 463 S.E.2d 314 (1995); *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999); *see also Winkler v. State*, 418 S.C. 643, 667-68, 795 S.E.2d 686, 699 (2016) (Hearn, J., concurring) (noting these two exceptions). In contrast, allegations that jurors misunderstood the law are insufficient to implicate fundamental fairness. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 555, 647 S.E.2d 144, 158 (2007)(“a jury’s misapprehension of the law is not enough to impeach a verdict”); *State v. Galbreath*, 359 S.C. 398, 597 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding that a juror’s decision to convict because she erroneously believed that the defendant would not receive jail time did not affect fundamental fairness).

Here, petitioner seeks to compel testimony surrounding: (1) the impact of the length of deliberations on the jury, (2) the impact of “lack of nourishment” on the jury, and (3) the jury’s “understanding of whether a verdict had to be rendered.” (Pet. 22). None of these categories involve admissible juror testimony under Rule 608(b) or the limited “fundamental fairness” exceptions.

Additionally, to whatever extent the general concept behind petitioner’s request could be entertained (and Respondent maintains it cannot), petitioner failed to offer sufficient basis to do so. The Facebook post, standing alone and without further explanation, should not be sufficient to require the trial judge to compel all twelve jurors to reappear in court for an inquiry. This Court

has said, “trial courts are justified in exercising a degree of caution before entertaining such evidence in an attack on a jury’s verdict.” *Shumpert v. State*, 378 S.C. 62, 69, 661 S.E.2d 369, 372 (2008). The caution here was warranted as was the denial of a hearing.

Gray failed to show a basis to find an abuse of discretion. Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the lower court. Certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ opinion should be denied.